# BEFORE THE COURT APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### CASE NO. 2007-CA-00693

# GREENE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, JOHN MARSHALL EUBANKS, TOMMY ROBERT and MARION PIERCE

APPELLANTS/ CROSS APPLLEES

VS.

### CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC.

APPELLEE CROSS APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Greene County, Mississippi Cause No. No. 2005-134-PW

# **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS/CROSS APPELLEES**

**Oral Argument Requested** 

Jerry L. Mills [MB# Edwin Lloyd Pittman [MB# **Pyle, Mills, Dye, & Pittman** 800 Avery Boulevard North, Ste. 101 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: 601/957-2600 Facsimile: 601/957-7440

### BEFORE THE COURT APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO. 2007-CA-00693

III.STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS6
V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT24
VI. ARGUMENT24
A. WERE THE AGREEMENTS PROPERLY
TERMINATED?
(B. ARE THE AGREEMENTS BINDING UPON THE
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS?26
1. Neither Contract was Properly Authorized
By the Board of Supervisors
2. Approval of the Contract by the
Board of Supervisors
3. Authority of the Board of Trustees to Bind the
Supervisors to Offer for Sale or Lease
$\mathbf{v}$
C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE
ATTEMPT TO TERMINATE THE AGREEMENTS
WAS A BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT
OF FAIR DEALING32
D. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REMOVING I.D.
BROWN FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
1. THE PLEADINGS DID NOT ALLEGE AN
ACTION FOR THE REMOVAL FROM OFFICE
OF I.D. BROWN
2. AN ACTION IN THE NATURE OF QUO WARRANTO
IS THE PROPER PROCEEDING TO TEST
RIGHT TO OFFICE
3. I. D. BROWN WAS AN INDISPENSABLE PARTY
TO ANY ACTION TO REMOVE HIM
FROM OFFICE

•

.

i

4. I. D. BROWN WAS IMPROPERLY REMOVED FROM
<b>OFFICE IN A COLLATERAL ATTACK ON HIS</b>
RIGHT TO OFFICE
5. APPELLEE LACKED STANDING TO
CHALLENGE I.D. BROWN'S RIGHT
<b>TO OFFICE</b>
6. ACTIONS FOR REMOVAL FROM OFFICE ARE
<b>OUTSIDE THE JURISDICTION OF THIS</b>
COURT
7. THE TRIAL OF RIGHT TO OFFICE MUST BE
MADE IN THE NAME OF THE STATE ON
<b>RELATION OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OR A</b>
DISTRICT ATTORNEY OR BY A PRIVATE
CLAIMANT TO OFFICE, ON HIS ON
RELATION IN THE NAME OF THE STATE
8. DURESS
9. HIRING LARRY BROWN AS AND EMPLOYEE 39
E. THE DETERMINATION THAT VIOLATION OF THE
<b>BID LAWS WAS NOT ESTABLISHED WAS ERROR IN</b>
VIEW OF THE MATTERS PRESENTED IN THE
DEFENDANTS' POST TRIAL MOTION41
F. THE CONTRACT WAS ILLEGAL42
VII. CONCLUSION44
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE45

# APPENDIX A

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# CASES

,

į

Accord Rich & Whillock v. Ashton Dev., 157 Cal.App.3d 1154, 204 Cal.Rptr. 86, 89 (1984)
Adams v. Bark, 75 Miss. 701, 23 So. 395
Barrý K. Cockrell, Esq. 2003 WL 21003288, 326
Braidfoot v. William Carey College, 793 So.2d 642, 651 (Miss.Ct.App.2000)
Burt v. Calhoun 231 So.2d 496, 499 (Miss. 1970)29
Butler v. Board of Supervisors for Hinds County, 659 So.2d 578, 579 (Miss.1995)
Community Extended Care Centers, Inc. v. Board of Sup'rs for Humphreys County 756 So.2d 798, 802 (Miss.App., 1999)29
Duckworth v. Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Co., 247 Miss. 198, 150 So.2d 163 (1963)
Estate of Stevens v. Wetzel 762 So 2d 293 (Miss. 2000)
Ex parte Bolman, (Bollman) 4 Cranch, 75 (2 L.Ed. 554)
<i>Fowler v. Bebee</i> , 9 Mass., 231
Golding v. Salter 234 Miss. 567, 107 So.2d 348, (Miss. 1958)40
Harrison County v. City of Gulfport 557 So.2d 780, 791 (Miss., 1990)41
Jackson Equipment & Service Co. v. Dunlop, 172 Miss. 752, 60 So. 734 (1935)
Jackson Redevelopment Authority v. King, Inc., 364 So.2d 1104, 1109 (Miss., 1978)
Justices of Jefferson v. Clark, 1 Monroe, 86

Kelso v. McGowan 604 So.2d 726, 732 (Miss., 1992)
Lacey v. Noblin 238 Miss. 329, 333, 118 So.2d 336, 338 (Miss. 1960)
Lee County v. James, 178 Miss. 554, 174 So. 76 (1937)
Lippincott v. Mississippi Bureau Of Narcotics 856 So.2d 465, 468 (Miss.App.,2003)
Mahon v. City of Columbus 1880 WL 6906, 4 (Miss.) (Miss. 1880)43
McKein v. Somers, 2 Penn., 269
Moore v. Caldwell, Freem. Ch. 222
Nichols v. Patterson, 678 So.2d 673, 677 (Miss.1996)
Pearl Realty Co. v. State Highway Comm'n, 170 Miss. 103, 154 So. 292 (1934)
People v. Collins, 7 Johns., 549
Rosetto v. City of Bay St. Louis 52 So. 785, 785 (Miss. 1910)
State ex rel. Holmes v. Griffin 667 So.2d 1319, 1323 (Miss., 1995)
Smith v. Board of Supervisors of Tallahatchie County, 124 Miss. 36, 41, 86 So. 707, 709 (1921)29
Totem Marine Tug & Barge, Inc. v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co., 584 P.2d 15 (Alaska 1978);
Town of Sumner v. Henderson 76 So. 829, 829 (Miss. 1917)
Upchurch v. City of Oxford 17 So.2d 204, 205 (Miss. 1944)
Yates v. Summers 170 So. 827, *829 -830 (Miss. 1936)
STATUTES
Miss.Code 1942, Secs. 1120-1145

i

Mississippi Code of 1942 Section 4045, Vol. 3
Miss. Code Ann.§ 25-4-10540
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-106, 7, 33
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-15
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-296, 13
Miss. Code Ann. §41-13-35(g)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-13-35(5)(g)25
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-4712
Mississippi Code Title 41, Chapter 136
Mississippi Constitution Article 4 Sec. 109 of 189040
Rule 65, MRCivP5
Rule 8, MRCivP
Rule 81, MRCivP34
Mississippi Torts Claim Act. (§11-46-1 et seq.)
Mississippi Torts Claim Act. (§11-46-11)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
7 Bacon Ab., 283
Dill. On Mun. Corp., sect. 6143
2 Kent's Com., 33035
McQuillan's MUNICORP § 12.92
Pomeroy's Eq. Jur. vol. 5, § 333, §334

:

i.

,

٠

# (s)9geq

		0	
85	(0701) <b>4</b> 07 <b>1</b> 6 '	Contracts § 1617	anotailliw EI

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves significant issues of public interest. The record clearly indicates a course of self dealing inimical to the public interest and contrary to the laws of the State of Mississippi.

### **II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

After the conclusion of the trial and hearing of post trial motions the lower court

entered a Second Amended Final Judgment. The Judgement incorporated the Court's

opinion of December 11, 2006. The lower Court determined:

- That the Nursing Home Agreement and the Hospital Agreement (the "Agreements") are valid and enforceable contracts.
- The Board of Trustees had the authority to enter both agreements for the operation and management of the GRHC.
- Both agreements are to be read together. (CP-1010, RE -82)
- The agreements are not lease or sales agreements.
- The agreements govern the operation and maintenance of the Nursing Home and the Hospital.
- Paragraph 25 of the Hospital Agreement does not obligate Greene County to lease or sell the facilities. However, it does obligate Greene County and GRHC to offer the Nursing Home and Hospital for sale or long-term lease on or before October 30, 2007. The offer for sale or lease shall follow the requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 41-13-15.
- Greene <u>County or GRHC shall pot be required to sell or lease the facility;</u> such decision rests solely within the discretion of Greene County. The offer to sell or lease shall not be an exclusive right of <u>CMI</u>, but shall be open to the <u>public</u> and sold or leased to the highest and best bidder, consistent with the statutory requirements.
- If Greene County and GRHC do not complete the sale or long-term lease of the Nursing Home and Hospital on or before December 31, 2007, then Greene County and GRHC shall be required to enter into a management contract with CMI, or a company designated by CMI for both facilities.<sup>1</sup>
- The term of the Nursing Home Agreement and Hospital Agreement shall continue through December 31, 2007. (CP -1011 RE-83)
- The defendants are enjoined from suspending the Agreements until December 31, 2007.

÷

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The required management agreement is to become effective on January 1, 2008 and continue for a period of not less than 5 years. The compensation to CMI is to be at a rate of 15% of the gross revenue of both facilities during the term of the management agreement. (CP 1011, Re-83)

• That the Board of Supervisors reinstate Larry Brown to his position as Trustee and that he be allowed to serve the remainder of his term. The Trustees shall immediately remove I. D. Brown from the GRHC Board.

Despite the finding that the agreements were valid and enforceable contracts, the lower court struck certain provisions of the agreement and modified others.

Following the rendering of the memorandum opinion by the lower court the Defendants filed a timely motion to alter or amend or in the alternative for a new trial. This motion raised two new issues. Following the close of the trial, the former hospital administrator came forward and provided information which was previously unavailable to Defendants. First he provided information that at least one of the attorney's representing CMI had engaged in a secret course of taping of telephone conversations with at least one of the defendants. Any of this type of tape should have been produced pursuant to specific discovery requests. Secondly, the former hospital administrator provided a sworn statement regarding the course of self-dealing by CMI. More specifically he described a system whereby CMI would make purchases from its own affiliated companies. He went on to describe the instructions he received to circumvent and violate the state's purchasing laws. For the first time the Defendants learned that shortly after his testimony, Larry Brown was hired as a full time employee of the Hospital. This occurred at a time when CMI was completely in control of hiring and firing.

.

ı.

•

The motion for new trial requested that the Special Chancellor reverse his decision on the enforceability of the agreements, the removal of I. D. Brown from the Board of Trustees and the issue of awarding attorney's fees. The only relief granted was

2

the reversal of the award of attorney's fees. Though the Second Final Decree denied

CMI's claim for attorneys' fees but found as follows:

The Court concludes that Greene County's and GRHC's attempt to terminate the Agreements twice in the first year were without justification and was a material breach of the Agreements. Further, the actions of Greene County and GRHC frustrated the purposes of the agreements and necessitated the commencement of this litigation. Furthermore, the Court finds that Greene County, through its Supervisors, and GRHC breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing that is contained in all Mississippi contracts.

The Appellant respectfully urges that the lower Court erred in finding and ordering the

foregoing.<sup>2</sup> As result of the lower court's order, Appellants raise the following issues.

- 1. May the management agreements be terminated by the Board of Trustees prior to the expiration of the contractual terms?
- 2. Are the Agreements binding upon the Board of Supervisors?
- In view of the plain language of Section 41-13-35 can the termination of the agreements be deemed in breach of the implied covenant of fair dealing?
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the termination of the agreements be deemed in breach of the implied covenant of fair dealing?
- 5. Did the trial court err in removing I. D. Brown from the Board of Trustees?
- 6. Whether the trial court erred in denying the full relief sought in the motion for a new trial. More specifically as relates to the illegal taping, the issue of compliance with the bid laws, and the hiring of Larry Brown.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 1, 2005, CMI filed its complaint and a Motion for Hearing on

Preliminary Injunction. In the complaint, CMI asked the Court to:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Second Amended Final Judgement goes on to provide for operation of GRHC in the interim.

- a. Grant a temporary restraining order restraining Greene Rural [Health Center] from suspending or terminating the Management Contracts with CMI, and set aside the Resolution and Order of termination of October 17, 2005 and affirm the Order of October 31, 2005, reinstating the CMI contracts and direct the trustees to follow the law and abide by the management contracts.
- b. Enjoin Greene Rural [Health Center], ..., Marshall [Eubanks], Tommy [Roberts], and James [Meadows], Marion [Pierce] ... from interfering with or obstructing CMI from complying with its obligations under the Management Contracts and will enjoin said defendants to comply with said contracts and remain off of the facilities.
- c. Made said temporary injunction a permanent injunction.
- d. Grant a money judgment against Greene Rural [Health Center], ..., Marshall [Eubanks], Tommy [Roberts], and James [Meadows], Marion [Pierce] .. "' for wrongfully breached (sic) or causing a breach of said management contracts, including such damages, attorney fees and cost as would be required under the terms and conditions of said Management Contracts and such other damages as the Court believes to be just and reasonable for the independent torts perpetrated by the individuals named above.
- e. Grant a judgment in the sum as maybe determined from the evidence in this cause, should this Court find said Management Contracts to have been wrongfully breached and broken.
- f. Grant a judgment against Greene County, Mississippi, on the grounds that Green Rural Health Center is the agent for and the delegated authority that acts for and on behalf of Greene County.
- g. Grant such other relief, either special and general, as required in the event CMI has prayed for wrong or insufficient relief.

Neither the original complaint nor any amendment sought the removal of I. D.

Brown from the Board of Trustees, nor the reinstatement of Larry Brown.

i

By Order dated March 7, 2006, each of the Chancellors of the Sixteenth Chancery

District recused themselves from the consideration of this action. By Order dated March

17, 2006, Chief Justice James W. Smith, Jr., of the Mississippi Supreme Court, appointed Judge T. Kenneth Griffis, Jr. to serve as Special Chancellor.

On March 20, 2006, a hearing was held on CMI's Motion for Temporary Restraining Order. The parties agreed to the entry of an Agreed Order. The Agreed Order held the Motion for Temporary Restraining Order in abeyance until the matter could be heard on the Preliminary Injunction.<sup>3</sup> The Motion for Preliminary Injunction was set for March 29, 2006. On March 29 and 30, 2006, a hearing was held on CMI's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. Thereafter, on April 27, 2006, the Court entered an Order Granting Preliminary Injunction. The Court determined that CMI had met the prerequisites of MRCP 65 and that a preliminary injunction should be issued.

A final hearing on the merits was held on July 19 and 20, 2006. On December 18, 2006 the lower Court entered its opinion in this cause. A final judgement, the Second Amended Final Judgment was entered on April 20, 2007. (CP 1010). The Appellants timely filed a motion for reconsideration on February 16, 2007. (CP 860). This motion sought relief based not only on errors alleged in the Special Chancellor's original findings, but also on newly discovered material facts. The motion, support by affidavit alleged:

- A course of illegal taping
- That Larry Brown, the reinstated trustee, had been hired by CMI's employee to work for the hospital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Until such time, GRHC and Greene County agreed to not take any action to suspend or terminate the Nursing Home and Hospital Agreements. In addition, GRHC and Greene County agreed to not interfere with or obstruct CMI from complying with tits obligations under the agreements.

 That CMI had engaged in a deliberate course of voiding the public bid laws so that their affiliated companies sold supplies and services to the hospital. CMI engaged in actively concealing the failure to abide by public purchase laws.

As a result of this motion, the lower court modified the judgment to eliminate the award of attorneys' fees to CMI. No other relief was granted.

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Greene County Rural Health Center is a community hospital as that term is defined by §41-13-10 of the Mississippi Code of 1972.<sup>4</sup> It operates under the provisions of Title 41, Chapter 13 of the Mississippi Code. That title sets forth the manner in which community hospitals will be owned,<sup>5</sup> governed,<sup>6</sup> managed, leased, sold,<sup>7</sup> operated and financed.

<sup>4</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-10

<sup>5</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-10 defines owner as follows:

<sup>6</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-10

(b) "Board of trustees" shall mean the board appointed pursuant to Section 41-13 -29, to operate a community hospital.
<sup>7</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 41-13-15

<sup>(</sup>c) "Community hospital" shall mean any hospital, nursing home and/or related health facilities or programs, including without limitation, ambulatory surgical facilities, intermediate care facilities, after-hours clinics, home health agencies and rehabilitation facilities, established and acquired by boards of trustees or by one or more owners which is governed, operated and maintained by a board of trustees.

<sup>(</sup>d) Owner shall mean any board of supervisors of any county having an ownership interest in any community hospital or leased facility on behalf of the county or on behalf of any supervisors district, judicial district or election district of the county and shall also mean any governing council or board of any municipality having an ownership interest in any community hospital or leased facility.

The case involves two agreements related to the operation, management and sale or lease of the Greene County Rural Health Center. The circumstances giving rise to the dispute are described in the opinion of the Special Chancellor.<sup>8</sup>

Following the conclusion of the trial the Special Chancellor rendered an opinion setting out the following:

At the Supervisors' May 27, 2004 meeting, <u>GRHC Trustee Pommy</u> Roberts appeared at the Supervisors meeting. No other Trustees appeared. The Supervisors minutes reflect that a "discussion was conducted regarding financial reports of nursing home not yet turned over to the Board of Supervisors." Supervisor Marion Hill made a motion "to entertain building a hospital in Greene County following the law at no cost to the tax payers of Greene County." The motion passed unanimously.

On June 24, 2004, the Gary L. Dearman, the President of the Board of Supervisors, executed the Notice of Public Hearing. The Notice provided that "a public hearing will be held on the possibility of the lease, lease with option to purchase, or sale of the Greene Rural Health Center located in Leakesville." The hearing date was set for August 12, 2004. The Notice was published in the Greene County Herald on July 22, 29 and August 5, 2004.

At the Supervisors' August 12, 2004 meeting, the minutes reflect that:

A public hearing was held pursuant to Mississippi Code of 1972 41-13-10 Re: The possibility of a lease, lease with option to purchase, or sale of the Greene County Rural Health Center. The purpose of the hearing being to provide input from the citizens of Greene County regarding the possibilities of such lease or sale of the facility with the stipulation that the lessee or purchaser shall provide for the citizens of Greene County certain hospital services including but not limited to, a 24-hour emergency room

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The following is taken directly from the opinion of the Special Chancellor. Normal single spacing is modified given the length of the quoted language for ease of reading.

care. A copy of the list of people present at this meeting is made a part of these minutes.

On August 23, 2004, Dearman executed a Legal Notice wherein the Board of Supervisors requested "proposals for the purchase or lease of Greene County Rural Health Center by health care organizations experienced in the operation of general acute care hospitals and nursing homes." The notice required the submission of proposals by October 4, 2004.

The "Request for Proposals to Lease or Purchase Greene County Rural Health Center" provided that the Board of Supervisors sought "to solicit proposals from health care organizations ... experienced in the operation of general acute care and/or critical access hospitals and nursing homes." The stated objective was "to obtain, minimally, a Critical Access Hospital (CAR) with 24-hour Emergency Care." Greene County asked for proposals in the following form:

1. Total Purchase of property known as Green Rural Health Center located on Jackson Avenue in Leakesville, MS for the purpose of a Critical Access Hospital (CAR) operation with 24-hour Emergency Care and operation of the 60 bed Nursing Home. The final contract would be caveated to invalidate the sale if the Hospital and Emergency Care operation is not functional within a mutually agreed reasonable time.

2. Total Lease of the Green Rural Health Center facility for a period of not less than 10 years, with negotiable 5-year renewals. This option also requires implementation of the Hospital and 24-hour Emergency Care operation. Similarly, the final contract would be caveated to invalidate the sale if 24-hour Emergency Care and Hospital operation is not functional within a mutually agreed reasonable time.

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