BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00693

GREENE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, JOHN MARSHALL EUBANKS, TOMMY ROBERTS and MARION PIERCE

APPELLANTS/ CROSS APPELLEES

VS.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC.

APPELLEE/ CROSS APPELLANT

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Greene County, Mississippi Cause No. 2005-134PW

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

DARREN E. GRAY POST OFFICE BOX 115 146 W. PINE AVENUE WIGGINS, MS 39577 Telephone: (601) 928-2911 Facsimile: (601) 928-2802 MSB No.

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC.

BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00693

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This matter presents a contract construction issue and the underlying Court interpreted the provisions of the Nursing Home Agreement and the Hospital Agreement and determined and enforced the rights, duties, obligations and responsibilities of the parties under the Agreements.

CMI, Greene Rural Health Center Board of Trustees and Greene County, Mississippi Board of Supervisors entered into a working relationship to bring a Critical Access Hospital to Greene County, Mississippi. CMI, GRHC and Supervisors executed valid and enforceable contracts to accomplish this joint goal. Later the Board of Supervisors acting through the Board of Trustees and usurping the authority of the Board of Trustees caused the Trustees, without cause, notice or reason of any type to immediately terminate the contract with CMI on October 17, 2005, a mere 14 days prior to the planned opening of the Hospital in a clear attempt to frustrate the bargain for which all three parties had contracted. At least two of the Trustees, Roberts and Eubanks had administration forcibly removed, cancelled at least one GRHC employee's paycheck and returned equipment ordered for the opening of the Hospital.

The Nursing Home Agreement and Hospital Agreement are valid and enforceable contracts that must be read as one agreement with at date of termination no sooner than December 31, 2007 as held by the Trial Court. The Trustees are statutorily granted broad authority to manage the GRHC Community hospital or contract with entities to provide management to the hospital. The Nursing Home and Hospital Agreement must be read as one contract as the Hospital Agreement incorporates by reference various terms in the Nursing Home Agreement and this was clearly the intent when counsel for both CMI and GRHC Trustees and Board of Supervisors deleted a Superseding Nature of Agreement Clause in the Hospital Contract. (RE 113). There was clearly an offer, acceptance and consideration and those contract requirements have not been challenged. The trial court allowed testimony of the thoughts and

reasoning of the contracting parties at trial and this was not objected to at the trial level. The two week termination of the Nursing Home Agreement was accomplished through coercion of the Supervisors and as such the contracts have not been terminated and the attempts to terminate the contracts twice in the first year are clearly designed to frustrate the purpose of the agreements and are a breach of the contractual terms.

The October 17, 2005 breach of the Hospital Agreement by the Board of Trustees was also clearly a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing which is present in every Mississippi contract. This breach was done without discussion and was deemed by the fact finder a material breach of the terms of the contract. The breach on October 17, 2005 was without notice, cause or discussion and clearly meets the standard as this Court has set forth as follows: "Good faith is the faithfulness of an agreed purpose between two parties, a purpose which is consistent with justified expectations of the other party. The breach of good faith is bad faith characterized by some conduct which violates standards of decency, fairness, or reasonableness." *Cenac v. Murry*, 609 So.2d 1257, 1272 (Miss.1992).

Ņ

Í

The Board of Trustees approved both Agreements, executed both Agreements and filed same with the Chancery Clerk of Greene County, Mississippi. The Board of Supervisors participated in the process from the beginning by issuing a RFP to receive proposals to buy, sell, lease or lease with an option to purchase Greene Rural Health Center. (TE P-4 pg 357) CMI was the only respondent to the Request for Proposals. The Supervisors attended meetings and discussed the Hospital Agreement and spread the contract on their minutes as required under Mississippi law. The contract is enforceable against the Board of Supervisors and it must be noted, the Board of Supervisors have taken no official action to terminate the contracts. The Board of Supervisors has resorted to usurping the authority of the Board of Trustees to accomplish its devious intentions.

11

The Court correctly restored Larry Brown to the Greene Rural Health Center Board of Trustees. The Board of Supervisors decisions to appoint, terminate and restructure the GRHC Board violated the Supervisor's statutory obligations and authority to "appoint trustees for the purpose of operating and governing community hospitals." Miss. Code Ann. §41-12-29. The Board usurped the independent nature of the GRHC Board of Trustees and imposed their will on at least one Trustee that did not comply with their wishes to the point of duress and termination of employment for not acquiescing to the whims of the Board of Supervisors. The Supervisors removed Larry Brown from the Board in violation of the statutory means allowed for the Supervisors to remove Trustees. The Court correctly restored Larry Brown to the Board of Trustees as there was no other person authorized by law to hold that position.

۴

The Court correctly held that Greene County and GRHC failed to present sufficient evidence to support the allegations that CMI violated Mississippi public bid laws. No evidence of such expenditures was submitted into evidence which would support a finding that any particular purchases violated any particular Mississippi statute. The post-trial motion for new trial based on new evidence clearly fails the standards set forth under Mississippi law and again did not present evidence that any particular purchases violated any particular purchases violated any particular purchases as he appeared at meetings and said every thing was being done on the up and up. (TE 465). To allow this claim of new evidence would flout the standard of Mississippi law on this issue.

<u>APPELLEE ARGUMENT</u>

I. WHETHER THE CONTRACTS MAY BE TERMINATED WITHOUT CAUSE, NOTICE, OR REASON.

The Agreements were not properly terminated under the terms of the contact and Mississippi law.

Relevant Law

The Mississippi Supreme Court provided the following precedent concerning a trial judge's findings of fact and has held that the Court employs a substantial evidence parlance, and have said repeatedly that they will not disturb a trial judge's findings of fact where there is in the record substantial evidence supporting the same. *Cotton v. McConnell*, 435 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss.1983); *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 707-09 (Miss.1983); *Richardson v. Riley*, 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss.1978). This is so concerning those findings which relate to matters of evidentiary fact or of ultimate fact. *Norris v. Norris*, 498 So.2d 809, 814 (Miss.1986); Carr v. Carr, 480 So.2d 1120, 1122 (Miss.1985).

Because the chancellor is in the courtroom and hears the evidence first hand, he is best positioned to judge the credibility of the witnesses and decide what weight the evidence ought properly to have. *Murphy v. Murphy*, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss.1994). "Thus, this Court, on appeal, is permitted to disturb the chancellor's finding of fact only if we conclude that he was manifestly in error in his findings." *quoting UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hosp., Inc.* 525 So.2d 746, 753 (Miss.,1987), (citing *Murphy v. Murphy*, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss.1994)).

The general rule is when the legislature has authorized the State's entry into a contract, the State necessarily waives its immunity from suit for a breach of contract. Where the state has lawfully entered into a business contract with an individual, the obligations and duties of the contract should be mutually binding and reciprocal. There is no mutuality or fairness where a state or county can enter into an advantageous contract and accept its benefits but refuse to perform its obligations. Rather, by contracting with a private party, the agency promises to abide and be governed by the terms of the contract. *Gulfside Casino Partnership v. Mississippi State Port*, 757 So.2d 250, 256 (Miss. 2000).

The first rule of contract interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the parties. Sumter Lumber Co. v. Skipper, 184 So. 296, 298 (1938). More correctly stated, our concern is not nearly so much what the parties may have intended as it is with what they said, for the words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining intent and assigning meaning with fairness and accuracy. UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hosp., Inc. 525 So.2d 746, 755 (Miss. 1987). In other words, "[1]egal purpose or intent should first be sought in an objective reading of the words employed in the contract to the exclusion of parol or extrinsic evidence." Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So.2d 748, 752 (Miss.2003) (citations omitted). In applying the "four corners" test, "[o]ur concern is not nearly so much with what the parties may have intended, but with what they said, since the words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining the intent and assigning meaning with fairness and accuracy." Id. (citing Simmons v. Bank of Miss., 593 So.2d 40, 42- 43 (Miss.1992)). "Only if the contract is unclear or ambiguous can a court go beyond the text to determine the parties true intent." Id. at 752-53 (citing Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins, 558 So.2d 349, 352 (Miss.1990)). Where what the parties have said is less than clear and definite in material part, the court can resort to extrinsic evidence aids to assign meaning to contract terms. Barnett v. Getty Oil Co., 266 So. 2d 581,586 (Miss. 1972).

In Cherry v. Anthony, Gibbs, Sage, 501 So. 2d 416, 419 (Miss. 1987) the court held "[t]he most basic principle of contract law is that contracts must be interpreted by objective, not subjective standards. A court must interpret a determination of the meaning of the language used, not the ascertainment of some possible but unexpressed intent of the parties." The

termination of a contract is an "extreme" remedy and should be sparsely granted. UHS-

Qualicare, Inc at 756.

Mississippi Code Ann. §41-13-35 Board authority and responsibilities

(5)(g) To contract by way of lease, lease-purchase or otherwise, with any agency, department or other office of government or any individual, partnership, corporation, owner, other board of trustees, or other health care facility, for the providing of property, equipment or services by or to the community hospital or other entity or regarding any facet of the construction, management, funding or operation of the community hospital or any division or department thereof, or any related activity, including, without limitation, shared management expertise or employee insurance and retirement programs, and to terminate said contracts when deemed in the best interests of the community hospital.

<u>Analysis</u>

Based on the law asserted above and statutes that regulate entities involved in the current litigation, when the court analyzed the contracts and law, the court correctly concluded the terminations of the contract by the Board of Trustees was not proper and could not be done without reason, notice or cause. Although § 41-13-35(g) permits the Trustees to terminate management contracts if the Trustees, acting as a board, deem it to be in the hospital's best interest, the Defendants have not put forth any evidence and have not to this day put forth Board Minutes which show that the Board deemed it in the best interest of the hospital to terminate the contracts. As a public body, the board of trustees can only speak through its minutes. *Rawls Spring Util. Dist. v. Novak*, 765 So. 2d 1288, 1291 (Miss. 2000). During the trial of this matter, the Court specifically asked the Trustees' counsel what evidence there was that the Board had acted in the best interest of the hospital to terminate the contracts of the hospital to terminate the court specifically asked the Trustees' counsel what evidence there was that the Board had acted in the best interest of the hospital to terminate the contracts. (T 421-422).

Contract to be read together

From an objective reading of the Nursing Home and Hospital Agreements the trial court correctly deemed the Agreements to be companion agreements which built upon each other. In Paragraph 25 of the Nursing Home Agreement signed on April 1, 2005, the parties agreed:

<u>Critical Access Hospital</u> CMI agrees to work in good faith with the Board of Trustees and Board of Supervisors to obtain the goal of opening a critical access hospital on the premises of Greene Rural Health Center.

Upon the execution and during the term of this Agreement CMI, the Board of Trustees and Board of Supervisors agree to utilize all resources of Greene Rural Health Center to accomplish the goal of opening Greene County Hospital with after hours emergency services to be open within six (6) months of the effective date of this contract. Opening and provision of said services is contingent upon Greene County obtaining all permits, licenses and certifications required by city, county, state and federal governmental authorities to operate said facilities.

(RE 109).

Based on an objective view of these terms the court held the parties intended to tie CMI's operations of the Nursing Home with the opening of the Hospital. (RE 38 CP 722). The Court further concluded that each agreement builds upon the other, and it was the intent of the parties for the Nursing Home and the Hospital Agreements to be treated as one agreement, if the hospital could be reopened. (RE 38 CP 722). The court further concluded the term of the Nursing Home and Hospital Agreement shall continue through and until December 31, 2007. (RE 83 CP 1011).

This finding by the court is clearly substantiated by the testimony of Supervisor Dearman who stated "... the County has a valid and binding contract with CMI." (T 108). Mr. Dearman went further to elucidate the point that the contracts entered were to be companion agreements and to be treated as one if the hospital could be reopened. (T 108-111). In his testimony Supervisor Dearman set forth the reasoning behind signing management agreements for the Nursing Home and Hospital Agreement and that that would allow the GRHC to use the Upper Payment Limit which is given to County owned Nursing and Hospital facilities to help pay for the opening of the Hospital with the operations of the Nursing Home. This understanding is clearly the same as CMI had as evidence by Ted Cain's testimony wherein he set forth the same scenario. (T 292-97).

It must be remembered by all who consider the facts of this matter the two agreements at issue resulted from the Board of Supervisors issuing a request for proposals (RFP) to which CMI was the only respondent. There was no Hospital in operation in Greene County when the Agreements were entered. As the minutes of the Board of Trustees evince there were no issues of any significance raised, mentioned or brought to the attention of, CMI from April 1, 2005 to October 17, 2005, the date the Trustees voted to "cancel CMI's contract", without discussion. (TE P-9 385-427).

Termination of Contract

The first attempt to terminate occurred at the October 17, 2005 Board of Trustees meeting where Marshall Eubanks made a motion to "cancel CMI's contract" and was seconded by Tommy Roberts. At this meeting the Trustees allowed no discussion disregarding the Board's attorney who was present and tried to offer legal advice. (TE 5 pg58). The relevant provision in each contract states the following:

- 3. <u>Term and Termination</u>
 - a. The term of this Agreement shall begin on 4/1/05 and shall remain in effect for a period of one (1) year(s) unless otherwise terminated pursuant to Section 3 herein and shall automatically renew for successive one (1) year terms beginning 4/1/06 and on each one (1) year anniversary thereafter unless written notice of termination is given by a party 60 days prior to the expiration date....

The language of this section sets forth the parties cannot terminate within the initial term and the contract automatically renews for an additional year. During the second year a party is allowed to give sixty (60) days notice prior to the expiration date if they choose to terminate the contract. During the first year the parties could terminate only for specific violations of the contract, of which none has ever been forwarded to CMI. CMI's intent was clearly that that each provision was for a minimum of an initial term of two (2) years as evinced by Ted Cain's, President of CMI, testimony at the Permanent Injunction hearing wherein he stated that during the first year to

be terminated CMI would have to violate terms of the agreement. (T303-04). This is in line with the Court's analysis which set forth the term was for one year with an automatic renewal for successive one year periods. (RE 51 CP 735).

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